IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

:

JOHN TROY, Appellant, : vs. STATE OF FLORIDA, : Appellee. :

_____:

: Case No.SC04-332

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR SARASOTA COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

STEVEN L. BOLOTIN Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0236365

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

ISSUE II THE CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IS LEGALLY
INSUFFICIENT TO PROVE THE CHARGE OF ATTEMPTED

ISSUE III

APPELLANT WAS DEPRIVED OF A FAIR PENALTY HEARING AND DUE PROCESS OF LAW WHEN THE TRIAL COURT (1) DENIED HIS REQUEST TO EXERCISE HIS RIGHT OF ALLOCUTION FOR THE PURPOSE OF EXPRESSING HIS REMORSE BEFORE THE CO-SENTENCING JURY; (2)

IMPERMISSIBILY CHILLED APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO TESTIFY UNDER OATH CONCERNING HIS REMORSE (AND ALSO TO PRESENT OTHER EVIDENCE OF REMORSE) BY REFUSING TO RULE THAT THIS WOULD NOT "OPEN THE DOOR" FOR THE STATE TO INTRODUCE BEFORE THE JURY THE DETAILS OF THE CRIME (INCLUDING A NEW AGGRA- VATOR OF WITNESS ELIMINATION) FROM AN UNCONSTI- TUTIONALLY OBTAINED CONFESSION; AND (3) ALLOWED THE STATE TO INTRODUCE THE SUPPRESED CONFESSION IN THE SPENCER HEARING
ISSUE IV THE TRIAL COURT'S EXCLUSION OF THE TESTIMONY OF MICHAEL GALEMORE VIOLATED APPELLANT'S EIGHTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO A FAIR AND RELIABLE PENALTY HEARING AND HIS FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS
ISSUE V THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON THE STATUTORY MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCE OF AGE, WHERE THE REQUESTED INSTRUCTION WAS SUPPORTED BY EXPERT TESTIMONY THAT APPELLANT IS PSYCHOLOGICALLY AND EMOTIONALLY A TEENAGER
<u>ISSUE VI</u> THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HIS STATED BELIEF THAT FLORIDA LAW REQUIRED HIM TO IMPOSE A DEATH SEN- TENCE IN THIS CASE
ISSUE VII FLORIDA'S DEATH PENALTY STATUTE, AND THE PROCEDURE BY WHICH APPELLANT WAS SENTENCED TO DEATH, ARE CONSTITUTIONALLY INVALID
CONCLUSION 105

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF CITATIONS

Cases

PAGE NO.

Adams v. State, 376 So. 2d 47 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979) 65 Alexander v. Bird Road Ranch and Stables, Inc., 599 So. 76 2d 229 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992) 96 Alvord v. State, 322 So. 2d 533 (Fla. 1975) Amoros v. State, 531 So. 2d 1256 (Fla. 1988) 90 Armstrong v. Harris, 773 So. 2d 7 (Fla. 2000) 20, 65 Ashe v. North Carolina, 586 F. 2d 334 (4th Cir. 1978) 67 Barlow v. State, 784 So. 2d 482 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001) 65 Barone v. State, 841 So. 2d 653 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003) 78 20 Barrett v. State, 862 So. 2d 44 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003) Barwick v. State, 660 So. 2d 685 (Fla. 1995) 42 Beasley v. State, 774 So.2d 649 (Fla. 2000) 64 Beck v. Alabama, 447 U.S. 625 (1980) 73 93, 94 Blackwood v. State, 777 So. 2d 399 (Fla. 2000) Boardman v. Estelle, 957 F. 2d 1523 (9th Cir. 1992) 66 Boswell v. State, 610 So. 2d 670 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992) 22 Bottoson v. Moore, 833 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 2002) 62, 63 22 Brancaccio v. State, 698 So. 2d 597 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997) Brinkley v. State, 874 So. 2d 1199 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004) 44 Burns v. State, 699 So. 2d 646 (Fla. 1997) 94 93, 94 Campbell v. State, 679 So. 2d 720 (Fla. 1996) Capano v. State, 781 A. 2d 556 (Del. Supr. 2001) 67, 69 Carter v. State, 710 So. 2d 110 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) 22 Carter v. State, 801 So. 2d 113 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001) 21 80, 92 Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18 (1967) Christopher v. State, 583 So. 2d 642 (Fla. 1991) 77 Cilento v. State, 377 So. 2d 663 (Fla. 1979) 31 Cirack v. State, 201 So. 2d 706 (Fla. 1967) 34 98 Conde v. State, 860 So. 2d 930 (Fla. 2002) Cooper v. State, 336 So. 2d 1133 (Fla. 1976) 93 Cox v. State, 819 So. 2d 705 (Fla. 2002) 96 Craig v. State, 769 So. 2d 1087 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000) 21 Cuc v. State, 834 So. 2d 378 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003) 20 Davenport v. State, 787 So. 2d 32 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001) 65 DeShields v. Snyder, 829 F. Supp. 676, 692 (D. Del. 1992) 67 Devers-Lopez v. State, 710 So. 2d 720 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) 22 Diaz v. State, 860 So. 2d 960 (Fla. 2003) 42 Dickerson v. State, 783 So. 2d 1144 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002) 20

Duest v. State, 855 So. 2d 33 (Fla. 2003) Echavarria v. State, 839 P. 2d 589 (Nev. 1992) Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104 (1982) 47, Espinosa v. Florida, 505 U.S. 1079, 112 S. Ct.	62,	63 69 83
2926, 120 L. Ed. 2d 854 (1992) Eutsey v. State, 383 So. 2d 219 (Fla. 1980) Evans v. State, 808 So. 2d 92 (Fla. 2001) Farnell v. State, 214 So. 2d 753 (Fla. 2d DCA 1968)		98 65 77 79
Floyd v. State, 497 So. 2d 2111 (Fla. 1986) Ford v. State, 802 So. 2d 1121 (Fla. 2001) Foster v. State, 778 So. 2d 906 (Fla. 2000)		93 82 93
Garden v. State, 844 A. 2d 311 (Del. Supr. 2004) Gibbs v. State,So. 2d (Fla. 4th DCA 2004) [29 FLW D2461] [2004 WL 2452475		66 19
Gifford v. State, 744 So. 2d 1046 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) Gray v. State, 731 So. 2d 816 Griggs v. State, 821 So. 2d 1139 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002) Gudinas v. State, 693 So. 2d 953 (Fla. 1997)		33 34 21 42
Guerrero v. State, 532 So. 2d 75 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988) Gunn v. State, 78 Fl. 599, 83 So. 511 (1919) Gutierrez v. State, 747 So. 2d 429 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999)		77 79 77
Hammond v. State, 864 So. 2d 586 (Fla. 3d DCA 2004) Hansbrough v. State, 509 So. 2d 1081 (Fla. 1987) Harris v. New York, 401 U.S. 222 (1971) Hills v. State, 428 So. 2d 318 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983)		20 63 75 76
Hitchcock v. Dugger, 481 U.S. 393 (1987) Hoffman v. State, 708 So. 2d 962 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998) Holland v. State, 773 So. 2d 1065 (Fla. 2000)		62 77 21
Holsworth v. State, 522 So. 2d 348 (Fla. 1988) Jackson v. State, 648 So. 2d 85 (Fla. 1994) Jackson v. State, 767 So. 2d 1156 (Fla. 2000)	63,	62 97
Johnson v. Singletary, 612 So. 2d 575 (Fla. 1983) Johnson v. State, 608 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 1992) Jones v. State, 845 So. 2d 55 (Fla. 2003) Keen v. State, 775 So. 2d 263 (Fla. 2000)	63,	62 77 98 64
Kiley v. State, 860 So. 2d 509 Kormondy v. State, 845 So. 2d 41 (Fla. 2003) Lamont v. State, 610 So. 2d 435 (Fla. 1992)	05,	34 62 32
Larzelere v. State, 676 So. 2d 394 (Fla. 1996) Lewis v. State, 817 So. 2d 933 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002) Linehan v. State, 476 So. 2d 1262 (Fla. 1985)		77 19 21
Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586 (1978) 47, 62, Mahn v. State, 741 So. 2d 391 (Fla. 1998) Mendoza v. State, 700 So. 2d 670 (Fla. 1997) Merritt v. State, 523 So. 2d 573 (Fla. 1988) Mikell v. Henderson, 63 So. 2d 508 (Fla. 1953) Miller v. State, 780 So. 2d 277 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001)	73,	83 93 77 73 30 77
Montana v. Egelhoff, 518 U.S. 37, 116 S. Ct. 2013, 135 L.Ed.2d 361 (1996) Moore v. Thompson, 126 So. 2d 543 (Fla. 1960) Mullip V. State 425 So. 2d 210 (Fla. 2d DGD 1082)	2.0	30
Mullin v. State, 425 So. 2d 219 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983) Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1 (1999) iv	28,	29 80

Nibert v. State, 574 So. 2d 1059 (Fla. 1990) 64, 82 Nowlin v. State, 346 So. 2d 1020 (Fla. 1977) 75 64 Parker v. State, 643 So. 2d 1032 (Fla. 1994) Patton v. State, 878 So. 2d 368 (Fla. 2004) 34 Peek v. State, 395 So. 2d 492 (Fla. 1980) 93 Perkins v. State, 576 So. 2d 1310 (Fla. 1991) 33 Pope v. State, 441 So. 2d 1073 (Fla. 1983) 64 Potier v. State, 68 S.W. 3d 657 (Tex.Crim.App. 2002) 24 Ramirez v. State, 739 So. 2d 568 (Fla. 1999) 78 Rhodes v. State, 638 So. 2d 920 (Fla. 1994) 42 Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002) 62, 97 Rock v. Arkansas, 483 U.S. 44 (1987) 73 Rogers v. State, 844 So. 2d 728 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003) 75 Rollins v. State, 354 So. 2d 61 (Fla. 1978) 30, 32 Santos v. State, 629 So. 2d 838 (Fla. 1994) 96 Scull v. State, 533 So. 2d 1137 (Fla. 1988) 93 Shelton v. State, 744 A. 2d 465 (Del. Supr. 1999) 48, 66, 67 Simmons v. South Carolina, 512 U.S. 154 (1994) 84, 91 Simmons v. United States, 390 U.S. 377 (1968) 73 Sims v. State, 681 So. 2d 1112 (Fla. 1996) 94 Skipper v. South Carolina, 476 U.S. 1 (1986) Smith v. State, 866 So. 2d 51 (Fla. 2004) 96, 97 Spencer v. State, 615 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 1993) 65 St. Petersburg Bank & Trust Co. v. Hamm, 414 So. 2d 1071 (Fla. 1982) 32 State v. Birdsall, 960 P. 2d 729 (Hawaii 1998) 23, 24, 25 State v. Bonebright, 742 So. 2d 290 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998) 43 State v. Burrell, 819 So. 2d 181 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002) 43, 44 State v. Cohen, 604 A. 2d 846 (Del. Supr. 1992) 66 State v. Dauzart, 769 So. 2d 1206 (La. 2000) 80 State v. Diaz, 627 So. 2d 1314 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993) 44 State v. Dickerson, 811 So. 2d 744 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002) 43 State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986) 80 State v. Fanning, 939 S.W. 2d 941 (Mo.App.W.D. 1997) 24 State v. Giralt, 871 So. 2d 983 (Fla. 3d DCA 2004) 44 State v. Glatzmayer, 789 So. 2d 297 (Fla. 2001) 20, 65 State v. Hampton, 818 So. 2d 720 (La. 2002) 80 State v. Law, 559 So. 2d 187 (Fla. 1989) 35, 39 44 State v. Lukas, 652 So. 2d 1166 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995) State v. Miller, 710 So. 2d 686 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998) 43 State v. Nelson, 803 A. 2d 1 (N.J. 2002) State v. Ortiz, 766 So. 2d 1137 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000) 67 43, 44 State v. Palaveda, 745 So. 2d 1026 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999) 43 State v. Reynolds, 687 N.E. 2d 1358 (Ohio 1998) 69 State v. Smith, 573 So. 2d 306 (Fla. 1990) 76 State v. Thompson, 852 So. 2d 552 (La. App. 4th Cir. 2002) 80 State v. Vinson, 298 So. 2d 5050 (Fla. 2d DCA 1974) 31 State v. Vinson, 320 So. 2d 50 (Fla. 2d DCA 1975) State v. Weeks, 335 So. 2d 274 (Fla. 1976) 31, 32 31 State v. Zola, 548 A. 2d 1022 (N.J. 1988) Stephens v. State, 787 So. 2d 747 (Fla. 2001) 90 Stevens v. State, 552 So. 2d 1082 (Fla. 1989) 82

Stevens v. State, 613 So. 2d 402 (Fla. 1992) 64 Stewart v. State, 558 So. 2d 416 (Fla. 1990) 93 Stone v. State, 378 So. 2d 765 (Fla. 1979) 63 Straitwell v. State, 834 So. 2d 918 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003) 21 Tedder v. State, 322 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 1975) 63 Torres-Arboleda v. Dugger, 636 So. 2d 1321, 1325 (Fla. 1994)82 Turner v. State, 851 So. 2d 276 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003) 73 United States v. Chong, 104 F. Supp. 1232 (D. Hawaii 1999) 66, 69 United States v. Coffey, 871 F. 39 (6th Cir. 1989) 67 United States v. Fleming, 849 F. 2d 568 (11th Cir. 1988) 68 United States v. Hall, 152 F. 3d 381 (5th Cir. 1998) 66 73 United States v. Jackson, 390 U.S. 570 (1968) United States v. Jackson, 923 F. 2d 1494 (11th Cir. 1991) 67 United States v. Moree, 928 F. 2d 654 (5th Cir. 1991) 67 United States v. Prince, 868 F. 2d 1379 (5th Cir.), cert. Denied, 493 U.S. 932, 110 S. Ct. 321, 107 L. Ed. 2d 312 68 (1989) 65 United States v. Taylor, 11 F. ed 149 (11th Cir. 1994) United States v. Winston, 447 F. 2d 1236 (D.C. Cir. 1971) 77 Vaivada v. State, 870 So. 2d 197 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004) 22 Velasquez v. State, 657 So. 2d 1218 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995) 33 Ventura v. State, 741 So. 2d 1187 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999) 65 Walls v. State, 641 So. 2d 381 (Fla. 1994) 62 Walton v. Arizona, 497 U.S. 639, 110 S. Ct. 3047, 111 L. Ed. 2d 511 (1990) 97 Weaver v. State, __ So. 2d __ (Fla. 2004) [29 FLW S801] [2004 WL 2922143] 63 Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 123 S. Ct. 2527 (2003) 83 Windom v. State, 886 So. 2d 915 (Fla. 2004) 80, 98 Worley v. State, 848 So. 2d 491 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003) 95 76 Wright v. State, 427 So. 2d 326 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983) Statutes Fla. Stat. §893.02-(19) 30 Fla. Stat. §893.05(1) 31 77 Fla. Stat. §90.108 72 Fla. Stat. §921.141(1) Other Authorities 48 15 N.M. L.Rev. 41 (1985) 31 Hofstra L. Rev. 913, 1055-56 (Summer 2003) 83

Florida: Public Policy Versus Due Process and Why Florida's Intoxication Statute Cannot Withstand a Constitutional Challenge, 14 St. Thomas L. Rev. 233 (Fall 2001) 25

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, JOHN TROY, was initially charged by indictment in Sarasota County on October 11, 2001 with first degree murder of Bonnie Carroll, armed burglary, and armed robbery (1/13-16). A fourth count, alleging attempted sexual battery of Ms. Carroll, was subsequently added (SR1/44-55). Appellant was separately charged by information in Sarasota County on November 6, 2001 with aggravated battery, armed burglary, armed kidnapping, and armed robbery of Tracie Burchette (SR1/ 40-43). After a sequence of events in which various counts were consolidated, nolle prossed, amended, added, dismissed, and refiled (see 1/13-16, 35-38; 2/242-54, 324-31; 3/389-90, 483, 503-05, 556, 562-63; 4/677-78, 707-11, 717, 719-20, 722-23; 11/112-36, 164; 19/1179; SR1/2-11, 44-61), the case proceeded to trial in August 2003, on all eight counts arising from the Carroll and Burchette cases, before Circuit Judge Lee E. Haworth and a jury. Appellant was convicted as charged on all counts (5/867-69; 26/229-31). After the penalty phase of the trial, the jury by a vote of 11-1 recommended the death penalty (6/1013; 35/3476), and on January 23, 2004, Judge Haworth imposed a sentence of death for the murder conviction, sentences of life imprisonment on five other counts, and prison terms of thirty and fifteen years on the two remaining counts (10/ 1623-4; 36/3549-69).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Prior to trial, defense counsel moved to declare Section 775.051, Florida Statutes - in which the legislature (effective October 1, 1999) abrogated the defense of voluntary intoxication and provided that evidence of a defendant's voluntary intoxication is inadmissible to negate specific intent or to show insanity at the time of the offense - unconstitutional on due process and equal protection grounds (3/486-89, 510-13; 11/141-154). Counsel proffered that, if allowed, he would present evidence that appellant was severely intoxicated on the evening of the homicide, and would request a voluntary intoxication instruction (11/143). The trial court denied the motion (3/556; 11/154, 164-65).

At the outset of the trial, with appellant's consent, defense counsel informed the trial judge (and the jury in his opening statement) that appellant acknowledged his guilt of the charged crimes involving Tracie Burchette, and also that he was the person responsible for the death of Bonnie Carroll (19/1239-45). Appellant was contesting only the charge of first-degree murder, on the basis that it was neither premeditated nor committed during the perpetration of any of the enumerated felonies (19/1239, 1242, 1244-45; see 25/2102-04, 2109-19). Defense counsel noted to the trial court that if the court had ruled differently on his various pretrial

motions, his approach might have been different (19/1239-40).

The state established, through the testimony of the associate medical examiner, Dr. Michael Hunter, that Bonnie Carroll died from multiple (44) stab wounds (20/1389-91, 1453, 1457-58, see 20/1396-44). She also sustained several blunt force injuries and bruising to the face and head (20/ 1391-96, 1453). A piece of fabric was wedged in the back of her mouth, and a portion of cloth was tied loosely around her neck (20/ 1345-46, 1352-53, 1356-59, 1394, 1426-27). Dr. Hunter could not substantiate strangulation as a contributing cause of death, but neither could he completely rule it out (20/1352-56, 1461-62).¹ No semen was found, either by visual observation or subsequent processing of swabs (20/1365-66, 1462-63; 21/1493-94). There were two very small areas of vascular dilation on her external genitalia, but no internal injuries to that area (20/1361-62, 1451-52, 1463-64). [Evidence relating to the charge of attempted sexual battery is set forth in more detail in Issue II, infra].

The state's evidence pertaining to the circumstances of the Carroll and Burchette crimes is set forth in the trial court's sentencing order (10/1626-1630) as follows (with record citations added by appellate counsel):

¹ Dr. Hunter did not observe any of the bruising to the neck, nor any of the internal injuries to structures such as the hyoid bone, thyroid cartilage, or cricoid cartilage, which would ordinarily be associated with strangulation (20/1355-56). He did find petechial hemorrhages in the eyes, which is consistent with strangulation but is also consistent with other causes, including the positioning of a dead body (20/1354, 1462).

At around 5:30 p.m. on September 12, 2001, the nude and lifeless body of Bonnie Carroll was found in her apartment bedroom by her mother, Debbie Ortiz. Ms. Carroll was a twenty year old single parent who lived alone with her two year old daughter, Cynthia, in the Timberchase Apartment complex in Sarasota. The last time Ms. Ortiz had seen her daughter alive was about 11:15 p.m., September 11, 2001, when Bonnie left Mrs. Ortiz's home with Cynthia to drive home. (20/1296-1310; 21/ 1513).

Upon discovering the body, Mrs. Ortiz went to Cynthia's bedroom where she found the toddler alive and well in her crib. The police were called and forensic teams started their work. (20/1310-13).

John Troy was also a resident of Timberchase Apartments. He lived there with his mother, Debra Troy, his girlfriend, Marilyn Brooks, and Ms. Brooks' young daughter, Lydia. The Brooks had moved in with Troy and his mother about a week before the murder. Before moving to Timberchase, John and Mrs. Troy had stayed for a short time with a friend of Debra's, Tracie Burchette. (22/ 1694-97, 1745; 24/1907-10).

John and Marilyn first had contact as pen pals when Troy was in prison in north Florida. Their relationship ripened into a romantic one which led to an agreement to live together when he got out. Troy was released from the Florida prison system on or about July 25, 2001. He was placed on conditional release for two years. He was also on parole status out of Tennessee. (penalty phase evidence, 27/2356-60, 2382-84; 32/2959-62, 2967-68).

Upon his release in late July, 2001, Troy met with Sandy Hotwagner, a Sarasota DOC Correctional Probation Specialist. At that time he signed documents pledging not to use illegal drugs, to obey the law, and to submit to random drug testing. Given his extensive history of drug use, he was also required to participate in substance abuse therapy in a group setting. (penalty phase evidence, 27/ 2348-55, 2362).

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