IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN TROY,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC04-332

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee. _____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWELFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR SARASOTA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar I.D. No. 0134101 Concourse Center #4 3507 Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607 Phone: (813) 287-7910 Fax: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

the trial court did not find the aggravating circumstance that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel, this was a particularly brutal murder.").

(C) Harmless Error:

The sockdolager is that any complaint that Troy may have pertaining to the trial court's determination at the <u>Spencer</u> hearing that the prosecutor could elicit additional details from investigating officers regarding Troy's admissions about the homicidal incident must be deemed harmless error (if error occurred). Appellant cannot point to any harmful error that occurred with the recommending jury since that body heard no testimony nor received evidence about Troy's admissions. Similarly, no prejudice occurred with the trial court since Judge Haworth specifically stated in his Sentencing Order:

> Accordingly, in an admitted abundance of caution, and solely as a matter of law, the court has elected <u>to deny the State any</u> <u>advantage from its use</u>. The case for the death penalty in Mr. Troy's case will stand or fall on its own, independently, based on the other evidence without consideration of facts disclosed in defendant's confession to Officer Gradoski.

> In preparing the Sentencing Order the <u>court</u> <u>has disregarded</u> the Spencer hearing <u>testimony of Officer Gradoski in regard to</u> <u>the contents of the confession in any way</u> <u>that might benefit the State</u>. The court has considered it only for the purpose offered by the defense, that is, as bearing on the mitigating claims of remorse and prompt

confession. Consequently, there is insufficient evidence before the court to find this [avoid arrest] aggravator exists.

(R X, 1636)(emphasis supplied)

Since the trial court did not use any of this evidence to benefit the State, any alleged error in the ruling at the Spencer hearing must be deemed harmless error.¹⁷

ISSUE IV

COURT=S EXCLUSION OF THE TRIAL MICHAEL NOT GALEMORE=S TESTIMONY DID VIOLATE AMENDMENT APPELLANT=S EIGHTH RIGHT TO A RELIABLE PENALTY HEARING OR HIS FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS.

During the penalty phase, defense counsel informed the court of the desire to call DOC employee Robert Galemore who had no personal contact with the defendant nor any knowledge of the facts of the case. The purpose would be to address the issues that life imprisonment without parole would be considered close custody, that the inmate would be supervised in a particular fashion, that the inmate would have to follow the rules of the prison. He would address the issue of drugs in prison, the issue of leadership in prison by an inmate, that a specific leader is prohibited by the rules but that the Department of Corrections encourages positive leadership when it can be found.

¹⁷As argued *infra*, the State submits that the trial court should have considered the evidence favorable to the prosecutor and supportive of the avoid arrest aggravator.

(R XXX, 2726-2727). Defense counsel alluded to Defense Exhibit O pertaining to common misperceptions about prison about prison (R XXX, 2727; see also Supp. R. II, 162-165). Defense life. counsel further indicated that he would ask what the conditions of confinement would be on death row and that he expected the answer to be that you are basically locked into your cell and you don=t work. The defense cited Ford v. State, 802 So. 2d 1121 (Fla. 2001) and added that Galemore could address the issue of inmates having access to drugs in the Department of Corrections. (R XXX, 2728-2729). The prosecution argued that the court would instruct the jury that life means life imprisonment and that the conditions of confinement are not pursued in any case. The proposed testimony did not support any mitigation and the witness had not met Appellant nor knew where he would be sentenced to if life were imposed. (R XXX, 2729-30). The court reviewed the Ford decision, noted that this Court had found harmless error in that case, and concluded that it didnt really stand for the proposition that the defense is allowed to introduce the type of testimony proffered for witness Galemore. The court indicated that the defense could argue to the jury potential parole ineligibility as a mitigating factor as noted in Ford, supra, and Walker v. State, 707 So. 2d 300 (Fla. 1997). Since the proffered testimony of Galemore did not address the

issues of whether Troy was well suited to prison or posed a threat to prison personnel and fellow inmates and since Galemore had <u>no</u> knowledge of Mr. Troy, his testimony seemed not to be relevant or probative. The court granted the State=s motion to exclude him as a witness. (R XXX, 2764-2765). Defense counsel repeated that jurors may have a misperception of life imprisonment and that Galemore can address drugs in prison, i.e., small amounts get in from time to time but they take strong measures to keep them out of prison. (R XXX, 2765-66). The defense requested and the court accepted that the witness would have testified to substantially this proffer. (R XXX, 2767).

Initially, relief must be denied because Appellants proffer of the testimony of Galemore is insufficient to apprise this Court of the <u>content</u> of his testimony. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Kormondy v.</u> <u>State</u>, 845 So. 2d 41, 53 (Fla. 2003)(ATherefore, it cannot be determined from the record that the defendant was deprived of his opportunity to cross-examine or impeach the witness.@); <u>Morrison v. State</u>, 818 So. 2d 432, 448 n.8 (Fla. 2002)(noting that F.S. 90.104(1)(b), requires for appellate preservation that counsel must Amake an offer of proof of how the witness would have responded if allowed to answer the question" so the appellate court will not be required to speculate on the

excluded evidence); Lucas v. State, 568 So. 2d 18, 22 (Fla. 1990)(similarly required a proffer of what the witness would have said so the appellate court will not have to speculate on the admissibility of such evidence); Finney v. State, 660 So. 2d 674, 684 (Fla. 1995)(AWithout a proffer it is impossible for the appellate court to determine whether the trial courts ruling was erroneous and if erroneous what effect the error may have had on the result.@); United States v. Winkle, 587 F.2d 705, 710 (5th Cir. 1979)(counsel stating that witness would testify as to his version of the conversations not sufficient to make known to the court the substance of the evidence); Blackwood v. State, 777 So. 2d 399, 419 (Fla. 2000) (requiring a proffer of the contents of the excluded evidence to the trial court). In the instant case while Appellee acknowledges that the lower court accepted the defense request that Galemore would have testified A along the lines counsel indicated" (R XXX, 2767), the fact remains that the record does not tell us what the testimony would have been, for example concerning his addressing A the issue of drugs in prison.@ (R XXX, 2727). Troy=s proffer is fatally deficient. As explained, *infra*, even if adequately preserved, the claim for relief must be denied.

A trial courts ruling on the admission of evidence is reviewed by an appellate court under an abuse of discretion

standard. <u>Randolph v. State</u>, 853 So. 2d 1051, 1062 (Fla. 2003). Discretion is abused only when the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable, which is another way of saying that discretion is abused only where no reasonable person would take the view adopted by the trial court. <u>Trease v.</u> <u>State</u>, 768 So. 2d 1050, 1053 n.2 (Fla. 2000); <u>Huff v. State</u>, 569 So. 2d 1247, 1249 (Fla. 1990); <u>Overton v. State</u>, 801 So. 2d 877, 896 (Fla. 2001); <u>Banks v. State</u>, 732 So. 2d 1065, 1068 (Fla. 1999); <u>Quince v. State</u>, 732 So. 2d 1059, 1062 (Fla. 1999); <u>Hawk</u> <u>v. State</u>, 718 So. 2d 159, 162 (Fla. 1998); <u>White v. State</u>, 817 So. 2d 799, 806 (Fla. 2002). The lower court did not abuse its discretion.

To the extent that Appellant argues that the ruling on Galemore testifying violated any federal Constitutional right of Appellant, such a claim is both procedurally barred and meritless. It is barred because Appellant did not preserve the claim for appellate review by presenting his federal claim to the trial court as required by state law. The only case law he relied on below was <u>Ford</u>, *supra*, which described the resolution of a state law question. 802 So. 2d at 1121. Appellant may not permissibly change the basis of an objection for the first time on appeal. <u>See Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982); <u>Occhicone v. State</u>, 570 So. 2d 902 (Fla. 1990); <u>see also Woods</u>

v. State, 733 So. 2d 980, 984 (Fla. 1999)(**A**To preserve an argument for appeal, it must be asserted as the legal ground for the objection, exception, or motion below [citations omitted]@). The <u>Woods</u> Court added that **A**He did not bring to the attention of the trial court any of the specific grounds he now urges this Court to consider@. <u>Id.</u> at 985. <u>See also Archer v. State</u>, 613 So. 2d 446, 448 (Fla. 1993)(**A**Archer did not make the instant argument in the trial court [pertaining to his JOA], and, therefore, this issue has not been preserved for appellate review.@).

The claim is also meritless. The prosecutor was certainly correct that Galemoress proffered testimony did not relate to the circumstances of the offense or to the character of the accused. As noted by <u>Walker v. State</u>, 707 So. 2d 300, 315 (Fla. 1997) and <u>Ford v. State</u>, 802 So. 2d 1121, 1136 n.36 (Fla. 2001) both Florida and U.S. Supreme Court case law are satisfied when the defendant is afforded the opportunity to argue to the jury potential parole ineligibility as a mitigating factor. The Legislature of course has remedied any possible uncertainties when it amended Section 775.082(1) to provide that defendants facing the death penalty pursuant to Section 921.141 for crimes committed on or after October 1, 1995 shall be punished by death or life imprisonment and shall be ineligible for parole.

Section 775.082, Fla. Stat.; <u>Walker</u>, *supra*, at 315 n.11. The law does not require the jury to hear evidence of conditions of life in prison.¹⁸ The record reflects that trial counsel did in fact argue that a lifetime to be spent in prison without parole was a mitigating circumstance:

> MR. TEBRUGGE: Ten years from now, if choose life imprisonment without you possibility of parole, John Troy will still be in prison. Twenty years from now, if you choose life imprisonment without possibility of parole, John Troy will still be in Thirty years from now, if you prison. choose life imprisonment without possibility of parole, John Troy will still be in prison. John Troy will be in prison until the day he dies and that is the way that it should be. Lock him up, throw away the key, but please don-t allow the state to kill him.

> If you choose life in this case, it will be no cause for celebration. It will merely be the sad end to a tragic case. There are no winners in this courtroom and certainly not John. There has already been enough pain, and death, and loss.

MS. RIVA: Objection, Judge, improper argument.

THE COURT: I=m gonna allow it.

(R XXXV, 3431-32)

* * *

MR. TEBRUGGE: When it comes to the choice that you have to make today, in order to choose death, I submit to you that you have to be sure that there is no alternative.

¹⁸Similarly, it is improper for a defense attorney to argue to the jury a description of an electrocution. <u>See Shriner v.</u> <u>State</u>, 386 So. 2d 525, 533 (Fla. 1980); <u>Porter v. State</u>, 429 So. 2d 293, 296 (Fla. 1983).

MS. RIVA: Objection, Judge. THE COURT: Overruled. MR. TEBRUGGE: In the State of Florida the death penalty is reserved for the worst of the worst, for the most aggravating and least mitigated of killers. In this case there is an alternative. Choose life instead.

(R XXXV, 3432-33)

To the extent that Appellant is offering some complaint that it was unfair or improper for the prosecutor to cross-examine relatives (e.g. John Troy VI, Natalie Wallace and Hilda Troy) about whether they were aware that drugs can sometimes be present in a prison setting since it had been in Troy=s prior prison experiences, it certainly was appropriate to inquire as to the completeness of their knowledge (Hilda Troy for example attested to her unconditional love for him, irrespective of her unawareness of the details of the Bonnie Carroll homicide (R XXX, 2696)). Since John Troy VI noted on direct examination that Appellant is Abest placed in a situation where he cannot have@ such things as drugs available to him (R XXIX, 2587), inquiry was appropriate whether and to what extent he appreciated what happened in a prison setting. Moreover, Appellant fails to point out that Natalie Wallace answered the prosecutor=s question affirmatively that she knew there were drugs in prison since Amy husband=s in prison@ (R XXIX, 2638). No additional testimony by Galemore was required.¹⁹

¹⁹The instant case is unlike Skipper v. South Carolina, 476 U.S.

Finally, even if the Court were to find that it was error to exclude the testimony of Galemore based on the proffer made, clearly such error would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>See Ford</u>, *supra*, at 1136 (the asserted mitigating factors occupy a minor and tangential position in the present record, the present case contains vast aggravation, and the trial court recognized and gave weight to numerous other mitigators).

ISSUE V

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED REVERSIBLY IN FAILING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON THE AGE MITIGATOR.

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